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There is no other pending or resolved civil
litigation between (hese parties arising out
of the same transaction or pceurrence
alleged in the Complaint.

COMPLAINT and JURY DEMAND

NOW COMES the Plaintiff, KARIM KOUBRITI, by and through his atlorney, BEN M.

GONEK, and for his Complaint states the following:

Jurisdiction Allegations

1. This action is brought pursuant to the Fourth, Fifth and Fourleenth Amendments of

the United States Constitution and 42 USC 1983, 19835 and 1988 as a result of events that causcd

the alleged and malicious prosecution of the Plainitff, Karim Koubrit,
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Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by 28 USC 1331 et. seq.

3. The Plaintiff, Karim Koubriti, is a resident of the City ol Detroit, Wayne County,
State of Michigan.

4, Upon information and belief, Defendant Richard Convertino, is resident of Wayne
County, State of Michigan and all times relevant to this Complaint was employed as an Assislant
United States Attorncy by the United States Department of Justice.

3. Upon information and belief, Defendant Michael Thomas, is resident of Wayne
County, State of Michigan and all times relevant to this Complaint was a Special Agent
employed by with the Federal Burcau of Investigation.

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Harry Raymond Smith, is resident of
Washington, D.C. and all times relevant {o this Complaint was a Special Agent cmployed by
with the Department of State.

7. At the time the events alleged in this Complaint occurred, the individually named
Delendants were not acting in the furtherance of any legitimate governmenta) function.
Furthermore, their illegal and unconstitutional actions were intentional torts. As such, the
individual Defendants named in this Complaint arc not entitled to the defense of governmental
Tnity.

8. Atthe time the events alleged in this Complaint occurred, the individually named
Defendants were violating Plaintiff’s constitutional rights and their actions werc clearly
unreasonable. As such, the individual Defendants named in this Complaint are not entitled to the

defense of qualified immunity.



9, All the individually named Defendants are being sued in their individual capacitics
and were acting under color of law at all relevant times to this Complaint,

10.  This Court has jurisdiction over all the partics and the amount m coniroversy
exceeds $75,000.00,

Factual Allegations

11.  This lawsuit stems (rom the malicious prosecution and the violation of the civil
rights of the Plaintiff, Karim Koubriti, in connection with Plaintifi”s arrest and prosecution for
the offensc of conspiracy to provide materials for or resources to terrorists contrary to 18 USC
371 and 2339(a).

12.  On or about September 17, 2001, a group ol task torce agents from the Detroit
Joint Terrorism Task Force (“JTTF™), searched an apartment for subjects on the FBI's Terrorist
Watch List. In that apartment, the JTTF team found three of the Koubriti case defendants along
with the following items, among others, which became evidence in the Koubriti case: a day
planner containing sketches, a videotape and numerous arabic language audio tapes.

13, The Delendants caused manufactured evidence and preparcd testimony to be
developed against Plaintiff while his criminal case was pending. Duc to the nature of
manufactured (estimony and the failure to disclose the known exculpatory evidence, a federal
prand jury indicted the Plaintift with the [ollowing felony offenses: conspiracy to provide
material support or resources Lo terrorists and conspiracy to engage fraud and misusc of VISAs,
permits and other documents.

14, From on or about September 17, 2001 through Scptember 2003, Defendant

Convertino was the lead Assistant United States Attormey prosecuting the Plaintiff.




15. From on or about February 2002 until on or about April 2003, Defendants Smith
and Thomas assisted in the investigation of the Koubriti case and were witnesses at the Koubriti
trial.

16. After Koubriti’s arrest, Defendants Convertino, Thomas and Smith acted in concert
and conspired to manufacture evidence against Plaintiff to be uscd at his trial,

17.  During this investigation, Defendants Convertino, Thomas and Smith all
intentionally withheld exculpatory evidence showing that the Plamtiff was not guilty ol the
terrorist related charges.  As a result of these actions, Plaintiff was convicted of all charged
offenses.

18.  The courl subsequently vacated the convictions of all the charges Plaintiff was
convicted of duc to the Delendants® unconstitutional actions.

19. At the time of Defendant Convertino’s unconstitutional actions as described
above, he was acling in an investigative role and not the role of a prosccutor. As such,
Defendant Convertino cannot avail himself of prosecutorial immunity.

20.  As a direct and proximate cause of all the individuals unconstitutional actions as
described above, Plaintiff was wrongfully convicted of a terrorism related charge.

21. As a dircet and proximate cause of the Defendants’ unconstitutional actions,

Plaintiff was incarcerated lor nearly threc ycars in a county jail.

COUNT 1
Violations of 42 USC 1983 and Fourth Amendment
Malicious Prosecution

22. By this reference, Plaintifl incorporates all paragraphs of this Complaint.




23, Defendants Converlino, Thomas and Smith’s acts of manufacturing cvidence
related charges constituted a malicious prosecution in violation of Plaintiff's Fourth Amendment
rights.

24,  Asa direct and proximate cause of Defendants violating Plaintiff’s Fourth
Amendment rights, Plaintiff was wronglully convicted of criminal charges and was illegally

mcarccrated for nearly three years.

COUNT 11
Violations of 42 USC 1983 and Fifth Amendment
Malicious Prosccution

25. By this reference, Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this Complaint.
26.  Defendants Convertino, Thomas and Smith’s acts of manufucturing evidence

against the Plaintiff, failing to tumn over exculpatory evidence and prosecuting him on terrorisi
related charges constituted a malicious prosecution in violation of Plaintiff"s Fifth Amendment
rights.

27.  As a direct and proximate cause ol Defondants violating Plaintiff’s Fifth
Amendment rights, Plaintifl was wrongfully convicted of criminal charges and was illegally

incarcerated for nearly three years.

COUNT 11
Violations of 42 USC 1983 and Fourteenth Amendment
Malicious Prosecution

28. By this reference, Plaintiff incorporates all paragraphs of this Complamt.




29. Defendants Convertino, Thomas and Smith’s acts of manufacturing evidence
apainst the PlaintiT, failing to tumn over exculpatory evidence and prosecuting him on terrorism
related charges constituted a malicious prosecution in violation of Plaintiff's Fourlecnth
Amendment rights.

30, As a direct and proximate canse of Defendants violating Plaintift’s lourteenth
Amendment rights, Plaintiff was wrongfully convicted of criminal charges and was illegally
mearcerated for nearly three years.

Relief Requested

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant the

following rclief against Defendants:

a. Compensatory damages in the amount of $9,000,000.00;

b. Punitive and/or cxemplary damages in an amount which is fair, just and
reasonablc;
¢, Such other and further relief as this Court may deem appropriate, including costs,

interest and reasonable attormey (ees pursuant to 42 U.5.CL § |

ted by:

BYN M. GONEK (P43716)
BEN M. GONEK, I".C..
Attorneys for Plaintiff
1300 Ford Building
615 Griswold Strect
Dictroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 963-3377
bgonek@aol.com

Dated:  August 30, 2007
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
NOW COMES Plaintiff, KARIM KOUBRITI, by and through his attorney, BEN M,

GONLK, P.C., and hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues of this cause of action,

M. GONEK (P43716)
omgy for Plaintiff

300 l"l)rd Building

615 Griswold Street
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 963-3377
bgonck@aol.com

Daled; August 30, 2007
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